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CREDIT UNION CO-OPERATIVE PRINCIPLES

  1. VOLUNTARY MEMBERSHIP
Credit Unions are voluntary cooperative organizations, offering services to people willing to accept the responsibilities 
and benefits of membership, without gender, social, political or religious discrimination. Credit Unions operate as 
not-for-profit institutions with volunteer Board of directors and Committees.

  2. DEMOCRATIC MEMBER CONTROL
Cooperatives are democratic organizations owned and controlled by their members – one member, one vote – with 
equal opportunity for participation in setting policies and making decisions.

  3. MEMBERS’ ECONOMIC PARTICIPATION
Members are the owners.  As such, they contribute to and democratically control the capital of the cooperative.  
This benefits members in proportion to their transactions with the cooperative, rather than on the capital invested.  
For Credit Unions, which typically offer better rates, fees and service than for-profit financial institutions, members 
recognize benefits in proportion to the extent of their financial transactions and general usage.

  4. AUTONOMY AND INDEPENDENCE
Cooperatives are autonomous, self-help organizations controlled by their members.  If the cooperative enters into 
agreements with other organizations or raises capital from external sources, it does so based on terms that ensure 
democratic control by its members and maintains the cooperative autonomy.

  5. EDUCATION, TRAINING & INFORMATION
Cooperatives provide education and training for members, elected representatives, managers and employees so 
they can contribute effectively to the development of the cooperative.  Credit Unions place particular importance 
on educational opportunities for their volunteer directors and financial education for their members and the public, 
especially the nation’s youth. Credit Unions also recognize the importance of ensuring the general public and policy 
makers are informed about the nature, structure and benefits of cooperatives.

  6. COOPERATION AMONG COOPERATIVES
Cooperatives serve their members most effectively and strengthen the cooperative movement by working together 
through local, state, regional, national and international structures.

  7. CONCERN FOR COMMUNITY
While focusing on member needs, cooperatives work for the sustainable development of communities including 
people of modest means, through policies developed and accepted by the members.
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NOTICE OF 37TH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT THE 37TH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF THE GRAND BAY 
CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED WILL BE HELD AT 

THE PIERRE CHARLES SECONDARY SCHOOL IN GRAND BAY, ON SUNDAY APRIL  24, 2022 AT 
3:00 P.M. UNDER THE THEME

“Community focused, financially responsible”

AGENDA

1. Ascertainment of quorum
2. Call to order
3. Opening Prayer followed by Credit Union Prayer
4. Apologies for absence
5. Opening/Welcome remarks
6. Keynote Speaker
7. Reading and Confirmation of minutes of the 36th Annual General Meeting
8. Matters arising from the minutes
9. Reports from:
• Board of Directors
• Auditor and Treasurer
• Credit Committee
• Supervisory and Compliance Committee 

10. New business
• Dividend for 2021
• Open forum
• Appointment of auditor

11. Election of officers – Nominations Committee Report
• Board of Directors
• Credit Committee
• Supervisory Committee

12. Awards and Prizes
13. Vote of Thanks
14. Adjournment

Signed

......................................
Natasha Registe (Ms.)
SECRETARY
For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS REPORT

Welcome 
Dear members, on behalf of the Board of Directors, I 
welcome you to the 37th Annual General Meeting of the 
Grand Bay Co-operative Credit Union Ltd. I am pleased 
to present the financial status of the Grand Bay Co-
operative Credit Union Ltd for the year ended December 
31, 2021. 

This year’s meeting is being held under the theme 
“Community Focused, Financially Responsible”. The 
Board of Directors expresses sincere gratitude to you 
the members for your continued support and patronage 
throughout the year.  We thank you particularly for 
your faithfulness and understanding all throughout 
the pandemic. The Grand Bay Credit Union has great 
things in store for you this year and the next and on 
behalf of the Board of Directors I urge you to continue 
to support your Credit Union; the Credit Union cannot 
move forward with you.

Overview
Valued members, it is no surprise that the year 2021 
was another challenging year, not just for our Credit 
Union or Dominica, but for the world. As the pandemic 
continued to negatively impact the world’s economy, the 
Credit Union continued to battle with delinquency and 
the increased added operational expenses brought on 
by the need to keep ourselves and the public safe from 
widespread infection. We were indeed fortunate that 
only two (2) staff members were infected with the virus 
during the year and that the Credit Union only shutdown 
operations once due to the virus.

On September 1, 2021, we lost our beloved president 
Honorable Edward Registe. He served the Credit Union as 
a volunteer for many years with valor and camaraderie. 

Nothing was too much for him to do and he never had 
an issue giving off his time in service to the membership. 
May his soul rest in peace. He will be missed.

It was indeed a pleasure to pay dividends to you 
members in 2021 after such a long period of waiting. 
You never gave up on us and we never gave up on you. 
The Credit Union has come a long way from the last time 
you received dividends on shares eleven (11) years ago. 
I am pleased to report that our share capital increased 
by an amazing $95,412 in 2021 and is now at $812,812. 
Our institutional capital (total equity / total assets) is 
now at an incredible 10.64% while our net institutional 
capital (shares + statutory reserves + retained earnings 
/ total assets) is at 5.70%.

The year ahead is expected to be even greater. If there 
is one thing, we have learnt from the pandemic is that 
members need to have access to their accounts outside 
of the office building. In light of this, we are currently 
in negotiations with the National Bank for the issuance 
of membership cards to members and currently, as we 
speak, we are in the testing phase of our new online 
initiative within our live database. Within the next week 
or two we will be ready for applications to the online 
banking platform.

In addition, the second location at Bellevue Chopin 
provides all the services that are available at the Grand 
Bay location. All this is to give you more access and 
more convenience. The ATM that was installed at the 
Grand Bay location is still awaiting programming from 
the company who installed it. It is important that you 
understand that the machine is not owned by the Credit 
Union but the cards that we will issue will be our own 
cards.

TO THE 37TH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021
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Board of Directors
At the 36th Annual General Meeting, we welcomed a 
new member to the Board of Directors Mr. Ernie Boland 
who replaced Mr. Edward Registe on the hardworking 
team of nine volunteers spearheading the governance 

of this great institution.  

As of December 31, 2021, the composition of the Board 
of Directors was as follows:

Meetings
The Board of Directors held nine (9) regular meetings 
during the year both face-to-face and virtual.  In addition 
to the regular meetings, there were several special 

meetings held specifically to address certain matters 
that were too lengthy to discuss at regular meetings. 
Emergency meetings were also held when the need 
arose to handle pertinent matters.

Table 1- Board of Directors Attendance Record

Board of Directors Meetings Called Attended Excused 
Mr. Edward Registe 6 5 1 
Mrs. Lilian Alexander-Williams 9 9  
Mr. Julius Athanaze 9 8 1 
Ms. Natasha Registe 9 8 1 
Mr. Carlton Henry 9 8 1 
Mr. Crispin Jules 9 6 3 
Mrs. Shakina Dorival 9 9  
Mrs. Erma Connie Lee 9 9  
Mr. Bonti Liverpool 9 7 2 
Mr. Ernie Boland 1 1  

 

Name Status 
Mrs. Erma Connie Lee President 
Mrs. Shakina Dorival Vice President 
Ms. Lilian Alexander-Williams Treasurer 
Ms. Natasha Registe Secretary 
Mr. Carlton Henry Asst. Secretary/Treasurer 
Mr. Julius Athanaze Director 
Mr. Crispin Jules Director 
Mr. Bonti Liverpool Director 
Mr. Ernie Boland Director 
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An employee was outsourced from the National 
Employment Program during the year for the sanitization 
of the counters as per health protocols re Covid19. Two 
members of staff operate at the Bellevue location and 
the other twelve operate at Grand Bay. The Board of 
Directors take this opportunity to thank management 
and staff for all their hard work in running the day-to-day 
affairs of this institution. All that was achieved for the 
year can be attributed to your hard work and dedication.

The Board of Directors take this opportunity to thank 
also our IT Consultant Mr. Kelvin Henderson for his long 
hours and unwavering commitment to ensuring that all 
technical aspects of the Credit Union’s operations run 
smoothly.

Membership
Membership grew from four thousand one hundred and 
sixty-three (4,163) members in 2020 to four thousand 
two hundred and eighty-six (4,286) members in 2021, 
reflecting an increase of one hundred and twenty-three 
(123) new members or 2.95%.

In total, two hundred and thirteen (213) persons opened 
new accounts with the Credit Union during the year 
compared to one hundred and fifty-five (155) in 2020.

The number of accounts held at the end of the year 
stood at 8,987.  Out of this total, nine hundred and 
forty-seven (947) accounts were marked for deletion 
and 2,317 were dormant. The Board of Directors would 
like to take this opportunity to encourage members 
to come to the office to update their accounts. Your 
accounts must be updated to apply for online banking; it 
must be updated to receive the new printed passbooks; 
it must be updated to do any transactions involving 
foreign currency; and it must be updated for compliance 
purposes.

As mentioned before, updating of passbooks, and 
updating of accounts are two separate things. Please take 
note, if you are out of state, the forms can be emailed 
to you along with the instructions for updating your 
account. Notarized copies can be emailed to gbccu@
cwdom.dm and the orginals sent via postal mail.

Table 2 - Composition and structure of staff as of December 31, 2021 were as follows:

Staff of the Grand Bay Cooperative Credit Union Ltd

Name Position 

Mrs. Elsa Pacquette Manager 
Mr. Anthony Thomas Accountant 
Ms. Neithel Matthew Executive Assistant 
Mrs. Seraphin Joseph Sr. Loan Officer 
Mrs. Asha Benjamin Jr. Loan Officer 
Ms. Jemma Hilaire Branch manager 
Ms. Josephine Blondel Credit Control Officer 
Ms. Esther Jones  Teller 
Mr. Desron Grell Teller 
Mrs. Sophie Henderson Compliance  
Ms. Catherine Charles Office Attendant 
Ms. Khadell Toussaint Secretary 
Ms. Kelia La Rocque Teller 
Ms. Dian Francis Teller 
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Liabilities
Total Liabilities at the end of the year was $32,353,361 
compared to 2020 which was $31,516,142.  Liabilities 
increased by $837,219 or 2.66%.  Members Savings and 
Deposits accounts formed 75% of the society’s liabilities.  

Members Savings and Deposits increased from 
$23,232,178 in 2020 to $24,290,856 in 2021, an increase 
of $1,058,678 or 4.56%.  The trend in savings and 
deposits are depicted in Figure 1. 

Term Deposits decreased by $132,985 or 2% in 2021 
compared to the increase in 2020 of $856,434 or 15.2%. 
Total interest on term deposits for the year amounted 
to $172,373 compared to $192,182 in 2020.  Interest 

payable on term deposits at the end of 2021 amounted 
to $213,946.   

Figure 2 shows the increases in term deposits over the 
past five years.

Figure 1

Figure 2
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Assets
The Credit Union experienced growth of 8.47% or 
$2,826,560 in total assets in 2021.  Assets grew from 
$33,381,307 in 2020 to $36,207,867 in 2021.  Members’ 
loan accounts formed 71.7% of total assets.

A total of nine hundred and twenty-one (921) loans were 
granted during the year amounting to $13,177,351.  In 
comparison, 984 loans were granted in 2020 valued at 
$7,601,013. The large increase in loans granted may be 
attributed to the new initiatives of the Board in 2021 
to one, reduce the mortgage interest rate from 7% to 
6.5%; two, introduce the mortgage bundle loan at 6% 
interest; and three, increase the open-ended loan limit 
from $20,000 to $30,000.

The loans portfolio grew in 2021 from $23,346,275 to 
$25,952,156 an increase of $2,605,881 or 11.16%.  This 
was a very significant increase considering the pandemic 
was negatively affecting the economy in Dominica and 
the world in general during the year. 

The Credit Union however made allowance for expected 
credit losses of $251,597 at the end of 2021 due to 
the increased delinquency. This can be compared to 
allowances made of $123,391 in 2020.    

Figure 3 further highlights the trend in the loan’s 
portfolio.

Income generated through interest on loans and other 
investments amounted to $2,326,642 compared to 
$2,112,001 in 2020, an increase of $214,641 of 10.16%. 

Interest income formed 95.7% of total income in 2021 
and 96.6% of total income in 2020. Figure 4 depicts the 
growth in income over the past five years.

Figure 3 – Loans Portfolio

Figure 4 – Income
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Members’ Equity
At the end of 2021, members’ equity stood at 
$3,854,505 compared to $1,865,165 in 2020, an increase 
of $1,989,340 or 106.66%.   This can be compared to 
the increase of $543,386 or 41.11% in 2020. The large 
increase in equity is mainly due to the revaluation surplus 
on the Credit Union’s building on Lalay Grand Bay.

Member Share Capital
The Board of Directors continue to place emphasis on 
member share capital. There was growth in member 
share capital during the year of $95,411 or 13.3% 
compared to the $80,216 or 12.6% increase in 2020.  
Share Capital increased from $717,400 in 2020 to 
$812,812 in 2021.  

Members are encouraged to help build a strong financial 
base for the Credit Union by purchasing more shares. 

These shares which are our member contributed 
reserves are what will help our Credit Union to overcome 
unforeseen financial crisis.  

It was very exciting for the Board to resume the payment 
of dividend on shares in 2021 for the year 2020.  Thank 
you, members, for your continued support and patience.  
We urge you to continue to support your Credit Union 
as we continue to work for you and with you.  We have 
a long way to go to attain the ideal capital level that we 
seek according to the Co-operative Societies Act No 2 
of 2011, but we are working steadfastly to improve the 
financial standings of the Credit Union and will reach our 
goal. We cannot do it without your help. Please continue 
to purchase the shares as often as you can.

Figure 5 depicts the growth in member capital over the 
past five years.

Summary of Financial Performance
At the end of the year 2021, the Society’s gross income 
was $2,326,642 and expenditure was $1,960,847 
resulting in a surplus of $365,895 compared to the 
surplus of $466,229 in 2020.  The Society performed very 
well in the midst of this pandemic and it’s all because of 
you the members who continue to use the services of 
the Credit Union. Allocations were made to the statutory 
reserve and development fund in the amount of $73,159 
and $3,658 respectively. This resulted in a net surplus 
of $288,978 for the year.

Delinquency
As customary, the Credit Committee and the Loans 
Review Committee were very cautious when deliberating 
on loans so as not to cause increased delinquency.   

The Credit Control Officer followed all measures in 
pursuing delinquent members with some level of 

success during the year.  This included phone calls, 
WhatsApp, texting, Facebook messenger, letters, face 
to face encounters and court action. There were ongoing 
court matters at the end of the year for the collection 
of debt, some of which are still pending. Some loans 
were rescheduled to facilitate payments. No loans were 
written off during the year. 

Seven (7) members applied for and were granted 
moratorium on their loans compared to twenty-seven 
(27) the previous year.  The moratoriums were granted 
to members whose income were affected because of 
the pandemic. 

The Credit Union recorded a delinquency rate of 7.37% 
at the end of December 2021 compared to 6.91% in 
2020. This represented an increase in the delinquency 
rate of 0.46 or 6.7%.

Figure 5 – Member Capital
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The increase in the delinquency rate is of concern to 
the Board especially as the country is still feeling the 
impact of the pandemic. The Board intends to equip the 
Credit Control Department with all that is required to 
aggressively pursue delinquent members who can make 
payments on their loans. We implore you members to 
please honor your commitments. Remember, you are 
borrowing from yourselves because as members of the 
Credit Union, you are both borrowers and lenders.
 
Family Indemnity Plan
During the year under review nine (9) members were 
enrolled in the Family Indemnity Plan.  Ten (10) members 
who were covered under the Plan died during the year, 
and a total of $105,000 was paid out in claims.  

On behalf of the staff and committee members, the 
Board extends heartfelt condolences to the families of 
all members who passed away during the year. May their 
families be comforted during their time of grief and may 
their souls rest in peace.

Education and Training 
Education and training continue to be an essential 
component towards the growth and development of the 
Credit Union. Despite the pandemic, AML/CFT training 
was conducted by the Co-operative Societies League 
virtually and the Credit Union held inhouse trainings for 
staff and volunteers.

Co-operative Societies League:
• Annual AML/CFT Training

Inhouse Trainings:
• An overview of the AML/CFT Policy – Board
• An overview of the AML/CFT Policy – Staff 
• Roles & Responsibilities of the Board of Directors
• Suspicious transactions; Identifying and writing 

and reporting of SARs – Staff 

Scholarships
The Germaine Jno Phillip Scholarship to the Dominica 
State College is still available to members however, 
no applications were received in 2021 due to the 
uncertainty of face-to-face classes resulting from the 
current pandemic. Two scholarships are usually granted 
annually to the Dominica State College, one based on 
merit and the other on need.  

Social Responsibility
The Grand Bay Cooperative Credit Union continues to 
contribute to the development of members and the 
community in areas of culture, sports, education, and 
human resource.  During the year, sponsorship and 
donations were made in many areas to include but not 
limited to the following:

• Donations to the various primary schools in the 
district re prize giving ceremonies.

• Donation was made to the Catholic Church Feeding 
Program

• Donation to the St Vincent volcano relief fund
• Donation of appliances to a needy member at 

Montine and to an elderly member at Fond St Jean
• Sponsorship of Bagatelle Tree lighting

Credit Union Week 
Credit Unions all over the world celebrates International 
Credit Union Day on the third Thursday in October 
annually. Credit Union Day was observed on October 
21, 2021 under the theme “Building financial health for 
a brighter tomorrow”. 

Due to health protocols stemming from the pandemic, 
not many activities were held. Some of the activities 
organized by the office were: -

o Facebook trivia
o Member appreciation day
o Waiver of entrance fee and passbook fee for Credit 

Union Week
o The funeral Mass of our late president Honorable 

Edward Registe coincidentally took place of the 
Wednesday of Credit Union Week.

Outlook
The current pandemic has pushed the Credit Union to 
move ahead with haste to make the Credit Union more 
accessible to members outside of the physical structure. 

The online platform discussed at the last AGM is 
coming through as promised. The software has been 
acquired and is currently in the testing stage. We are 
now finalizing the application form and the agreement 
for the online platform so very soon we will be ready to 
receive applications from you.

As discussed at the last AGM, the new ATM has been 
installed and is currently being programmed.  This ATM, 
like the previous one, is not the property of the GBCCU 
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but uses all types of cards.  The GBCCU is in the process 
of issuing its own cards so that members will have access 
to the funds on their account without coming to the 
Credit Union.  

The electronic updating of passbooks is now available. 
Members will be given their new books free of charge, 
however, members must pay for any replacement books.

We are also looking to obtain a receipt printer to avoid 
the filling out of deposit and withdrawal slips at the 
counter. This should be in place by the end of 2022.

The Credit Union is working in collaboration with the 
primary schools in the parish to bring back the Scout 
troop in the community. The revamped troop will be 
named after the late James Alexander who was the first 
ever president of the Board of Directors of the Grand 
Bay Cooperative Credit Union Ltd and was once leader 
of the scout troop in Grand Bay.

Once protocols permit, we are also looking to bring back 
the Isidore Road Race in 2022 which has been on pause 
since the pandemic.

Acknowledgement
The Board of Directors thanks the Credit and Supervisory 
and Compliance committees, for their dedication and 
cooperation during the past year. The Board also thanks 
management and staff for their service during the year.
 
Most importantly, the Board wishes to express sincere 
thanks to you our valued members and account holders 
for your continued loyalty and support and for affording 
us the opportunity to serve you during the past year. 

We look forward to your continued support and urge 
you to take advantage of the services offered at your 
Credit Union and encourage everyone in the community 
to be part of the Grand Bay Co-operative Credit Union 
Ltd.

………………………..
Erma Connie Lee (Mrs.)
PRESIDENT
For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
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TREASURER’S REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2021

Introduction
I am pleased to report on the financial performance of 
the Grand Bay Co-operative Credit Union Ltd for the 
financial year ended December 31, 2021.

It gives me great pleasure to report that during the year 
2021, although the surge in the pandemic continued to 
weigh heavily on the economy, the Credit Union was able 
to increase revenue by 10%. At the same time however, 
the operating cost increased by 29% and an additional 
amount of $251,597 had to be set aside as provision 
for bad loans. 

The Board of Directors at its strategic planning session in 
January 2021 put various measures in place to increase 
revenue. These measures included a reduction in the 
mortgage interest rate from 7% to 6.5%, the introduction 
of the mortgage bundle loan and the quickie loan, and 
the increase in the limit of the open-ended loan from 
$20,000 to $30,000 among other things. Operations of 
a sub-branch at Bellevue Chopin began in January 2021 
to help meet the members where they are and increase 
membership.

The loans portfolio increased by $2,605,881 in 2021 
compared to the increase of $2,897,749 in the previous 
year.  Notwithstanding, it is expected that the new 
measures being implemented by the Board for 2022 to 
increase efficiency and convenience will have a positive 
impact on the loan portfolio in the year ahead.

Assets
The audited accounts of the Society for the year 2021 
reflected total asset of $36,207,867, as compared to 
the previous year 2020 of $33,381,307. This reflected 
an increase of $2,826,560 or 8.47%.  The most 
significant changes were a reduction in cash balances of 
$1,344,029, an increase in plant, property & equipment 
of $1,702,463, and an increase of $2,605,881 in the loan 
portfolio.

Other key indicators are highlighted in table 1 which 
shows the various areas in which the Society showed 
growth in 2021.

Share Capital and Member Deposits
Share Capital grew from $717,400 to $812,812 an 
increase of $95,412 over the previous year.  The purchase 
of shares is pegged to the issuance of loans.  Members 
must purchase shares based on the value of the loans 
that they apply for to help strengthen the financial status 
of the Society. 

A 2.5% dividend was paid on member share capital in 
2021 amounting to $17,925.  This was indeed a milestone 
for the Credit Union since dividends had not been paid 
on shares since 2009. The Board of Directors continue 
to urge members to invest in the Credit Union by 
purchasing more shares regularly.  

Members’ savings and ordinary deposits increased 
during the year.  Savings and ordinary deposits grew 
from $23,232,178 in 2020 to $24,290,856 in 2021. This 
reflected an increase of $1,058,678. 

Term Deposits decreased slightly from $6,501,866 in 
2020 to $6,368,881 in 2021, a decrease of $132,985.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
decreased by $19,325 due to the loss in the fair value 
of shares at DOMLEC.  DOMLEC shares at cost reduced 
from $4.00 per share to $3.50 per share.

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income increased by $1,108 from 
$518,879 in 2020 to $519,987 in 2021.

Cash and bank balances decreased during the year by 
$1,344,029 or 19.93% compared to the decrease in 2020 
of 16.3%.  The comparative figures for 2020 and 2021 
were $6,744,574 and $5,400,545, respectively.  

Liabilities as at December 31, 2021 stood at $32,353,361 
reflecting an increase of $837,219 over 2020 which was 
$31,516,142.
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Members’ Equity at December 31, 2021 totaled 
$3,854,505 compared to $1,865,165 at the end of 2020, 
reflecting an increase of $1,989,340 or 106.66%.  This 
large increase in member’s equity is due to the increase 

in retained earnings of 116.53%, the increase in share 
capital of 13.3% and the revaluation surplus on the 
Credit Union’s building on Lalay Grand Bay. The building 
in now valued at $3,000,000.

Table 1 – Performance Indicators

Indicators 2021 2020
Increase/ 
Decrease 

Increase/ 
Decrease 

(EC) (EC) (EC) (%)
ASSETS
Total Assets 36,207,866      33,381,307       2,826,559       8.47              
   Cash & Bank Balances 5,400,545       6,744,574         1,344,029-       19.93-            
   Originated Loans 25,952,156     23,346,275       2,605,881       11.16            
   FVPL/ FVOCI 655,532          673,549            18,017-            2.67-              
LIABILITIES
Total Liabilities 32,353,361      31,516,142       837,219          2.66              
   Savings/ Ordinary Deposits 24,290,856     23,232,178       1,058,678       4.56              
   Long-Term Loan 1,436,890       1,556,581         119,691-          7.69-              
EQUITY
Total Equity 3,854,505        1,865,165         1,989,340       106.66          
   Member's Capital 812,812          717,401            95,411            13.30            
   Retained Earnings 503,666          232,612            271,054          116.53          
INCOME
Total Income 2,326,642        2,112,001         214,641          10.16            
   Interest Income 2,226,613       2,040,346         186,267          9.13              
   Other Income 100,029          71,655              28,374            39.60            
EXPENDITURE
   Operating Cost 1,128,129        874,705            253,424          28.97            
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OPERATIONS

Income
Gross income for 2021 was $2,326,642 as compared to 
the previous year’s figure of $2,112,001.  This reflected 
an increase of $214,641.  Interest on loans remained 
the main income earner for the Society as represented 
in Figure 1 below.

Interest from loans amounted to $2,118,558 accounting 
for 91.1% of gross income. Other income for the year 
included commission, service charges, dividends, loan 
processing fees and sale of passbooks. 

Expenditure
Expenses incurred during 2021 totaled $1,960,847 as 
compared to the previous year’s total of $1,645,771 
reflecting an increase of $315,075 or 19.1%.  

The most significant expenses for the year were, 
personnel expenses of $512,057, Interest on Members 
Savings of $263,356, Interest on Members Term Deposits 
of $172,373, and interest on Bank loan of $67,593.  Utilities 
amounted to $77,813, while advertising, sponsorship 
and donations amounted to $96,286.  Members’ savings 
and loans insurance amounted to $77,490 for the year.  
The provision for Expected Credit Losses amounted to 

$251,597 while depreciation amounted $122,781.

Operational results
The society has realized a net surplus before appropriation 
of 365,795 for the Financial Year ended December 31, 
2021, as compared to a surplus of $466,229 in 2020.  The 
law requires that 20% of the net surplus be allocated 
to the statutory reserve.  This amounted to $73,159.  
One percent of the surplus was also allocated to the 
development fund.

Net Operating Income before provisions and depreciation 
was $683,042 as depicted in table 2.

Figure 1.  Chart Showing Income Generated in 2021
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Loans Portfolio and Delinquency
The Loans Portfolio grew from $23,346,275 in 2020 
to $25,952,156 in 2021.  This reflected an increase of 
$2,605,881 or 11.16% over the previous year.  

A total of 921 loans amounting to $13,177,351 were granted 
during the year 2021 compared to 984 loans granted in 
2020 valued at $7,601,013. 

The delinquency rate at December 31, 2021 was 7.37% as 
compared to 2020 which was 6.91%.   

The Board of Directors is appealing to all delinquent 
members to rectify their accounts in arrears.  If you need 
to make new arrangements to pay your loan, please visit 
the office to discuss the matter or write to explain your 
situation. 

Conclusion
The Board of Directors will continue to act in the best 
interest of you the members, explore all avenues of 
providing better service and bring new products and 
services that will enhance your quality of life. 

I wish to thank you for affording me the opportunity to 
serve you.  I also wish to thank the Management and staff 
for their support and encouragement.

…………………………...........................
Lilian Alexander-Williams (Mrs.)
Treasurer
For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

Table 2 – Operations

2021 2020
(EC$) (EC$) Increase/ Decrease

Operating Income 1,811,171 1,581,569 229,602
Less Operating Costs (1,128,129) (874,705) (253,424)
Net Operating Profit 683,042 706,864 (23,822)
Less Depreciation (122,782) (117,244) (5,538)
Less Expected Credit Losses (194,465) (123,391) (71,074)
Surplus/ Deficit for the year 365,795 466,229 (100,434)
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ORLANDO ALLAN RICHARDS FCCA, CA
CHARTERED CERTIFIED ACCOUNTANT

P.O. BOX 202, PEDRO INVESTMENTS BUILDING
INDEPENDENCE STREET, ROSEAU
COMMONWEALTH OF DOMINICA

TEL:  767 448-2511/2

TO:  THE MEMBERS OF GRANDBAY CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED

Opinion
I have audited the financial statements of Grandbay Co-operative Credit Union Limited (the Society), which comprise 
the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2021, the income and appropriations, the statement of changes in 
equity and cash flow statement for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies.

In my opinion, the accompanying financial statements of the Society are prepared, in all material respects, in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and comply with the Co-operative Societies Act No. 2 of 2011 
and the Co-operative Societies Regulations S.R.O 26 of 2001 of the laws of the Commonwealth of Dominica.

Basis for Opinion
I conducted my audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). My responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of my 
report. I am independent of the Society in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code), and I have fulfilled my other responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for my opinion.

Other Information
Management is respnsible for the other information.  The other information comprises the information included in the 
Annual Report, but does not include the financial statements and my auditor’s report thereon.  My opinion on the financial 
statements does not cover the other information and I do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or my knowledge obtained 
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially mistated.  If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there is 
a material mistatement of this other information; I am required to report that fact.  I have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Board of the Directors for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with IFRS and for such internal 
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Society’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Society or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of the Directors are responsible for overseeing the Society’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S REPORT
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AUDITOR’S REPORT CONT’D

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. I also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of  detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from  error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 
or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Society’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on the 
audit evidence obtained whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Society’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am 
required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Society to cease to continue 
as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.

I communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during my audit.

 

............................................ 
Roseau, Dominica
April 9, 2022
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GRANDBAY CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2021   
 
 Notes 2021 2020 

  $ $ 
ASSETS    
    
Cash and bank balances 5 5,400,545 6,744,574 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 6 135,345 154,670 
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 7 519,987 518,879 
Financial assets at amortised cost 8 25,952,156 23,346,275 
Other assets 11 583,822 703,361 
Property plant and equipment 12 3,616,011 1,913,548 

    
TOTAL ASSETS  36,207,866 33,381,307 
    
LIABILITIES    
    
Members Savings/Ordinary Deposits 13 24,290,856 23,232,178 
Term Deposit 14 6,368,881 6,501,866 
Accounts payable and provision 15 42,788 37,900 
Fixed deposit interest payable  213,946 187,617 
Long-Term Loan Payable 16 1,436,890 1,556,581 

    
TOTAL LIABILITY  32,353,361 31,516,142 
 
MEMBERS’ EQUITY    
    
Share Capital 17 812,812 717,401 
Statutory Reserve  18 755,237 681,456 
Education Fund  1,004 1,004 
Building Fund  18 18 
Fair Value Reserve 19 57,975 77,300 
Development Fund  30,754 27,096 
Revaluation Surplus 20 1,693,039 128,278 
Retained Earnings / Accumulated Deficit  503,666 232,612 
    
TOTAL MEMBERS’ EQUITY:  3,854,505 1,865,165 
    
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS’ EQUITY 36,207,866 33,381,307 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements 

 
Approved by The Board on April 9, 2022 and signed on behalf of the Board of Directors by: 
 
 

_________________      ________________________________ 
ERMA C. LEE       LILIAN ALEXANDER WILLIAMS 
PRESIDENT        TREASURER 
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GRANDBAY CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
STATEMENT OF INCOME AND APPROPRIATION 
FOR YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 
 

 NOTES 2021 2020 

   $ $ 

    
Interest income 21 2,226,613 2,040,346 
Interest expense 21 515,471 530,432 

    
Net interest income  1,711,142 1,509,914 

    
Other income 22 100,029 71,655 
Operating income  1,811,171 1,581,569 
    
Operating cost 23 (1,128,129) (874,705) 

    
Expected Credit Losses 8(b) (194,465) (123,391) 
Depreciation 12 (122,782) (117,244) 

    
Surplus before the following  365,795 466,229 
Fair value loss  (19,325) (3,865) 
    
Surplus before appropriation  6(b) 346,470 462,364 

    
Appropriations    

    
Fair value reserve transfer  19,325 3,865 
Transfer to statutory reserve (20%)  (73,159) (93,246) 
Development fund  (3,658) (4,662) 
Education Fund  - - 

Net surplus for the year  288,978 368,321 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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GRANDBAY CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 

 2021 2020 
  $ $ 
Cash flows from operating activities    
Surplus before appropriation  346,470 462,364 
Adjustments for:    
Depreciation  122,782 117,244 
Expected Credit Losses  194,465 123,391 
Fair Value Loss 19,325 3,865 

   
Cash flows before changes in operating assets and liabilities 683,042 706,864 
   
(Increase) in financial assets at amortised costs (2,800,346) (2,891,208) 
(Increase) in financial assets at FVOCI (1,108) (1,083) 
(Increase)/ decrease in other assets  119,539 (331,604) 
 Increase in members' savings/demand deposit  1,058,678 448,615 
 Increase in term deposits  (132,985) 856,434 
 Increase/ (decrease) in accounts payable and provisions  4,888 (504) 
 Increase / (decrease) in fixed deposit interest payable 26,329 (5,980) 
 Net Cash from operating activities  (1,041,963) (1,218,466) 

   
 Cash flow from investing activities    
 Purchase of fixed assets  (260,484) (60,062) 
 Net cash from investing activities  (260,484) (60,062) 

   
 Cash flow from financing activities    
 Increase in members capital (permanent shares)  95,411 80,216 
 Long term loan repayment  (119,691) (114,233) 
 Net receipts/payments from fund/reserves/adjustment                         - 283 
 Entrance fee  622 523 
 Dividend paid (17,924)                         -   
 Net cash from financing activities  (41,582) (33,211) 

   
 Net (decrease)/ increase in cash  (1,344,029) (1,311,739) 
 Cash at beginning of year  6,744,754 8,056,313 

   
 Cash at end of year  5,400,545 6,744,574 

 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements 
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GRANDBAY CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 
 
1. General Information 
 

The Grandbay Co-operative Credit Union Limited is registered under the Co-operatives Societies 
Act No.2 of 2011 of the Laws of the Commonwealth of Dominica. 

 
The address of its registered offices and principal place of business of the Co-operative is as 
follows: 
 
Lalay, Grandbay, Commonwealth of Dominica  
 
The objectives of the Society shall be: 

 
a) To promote thrift among its members by providing ways and means whereby savings can be 

effected and whereby shares in the Society can be acquired; 
b) To educate its members on the co-operative principles and methods on financial management 

and in the efficient management of its affairs. 
c) To create out of the savings of its members and other business of the Society, a source of 

credit available to its members on reasonable terms and conditions for provident and 
productive purposes. 

d) To undertake all other acts and things which are incidental, conductive to, or consequential 
upon the attainment of the above objectives. 

 
2. Summary of significant accounting policies 

 
This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these 
financial statements to the extent they have not already been disclosed in the other notes above. 
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

 
a) Basis of preparation 
 

(i) Compliance with IFRS 
 
The financial statements of the Society have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations 
Committee (IFRS IC) applicable to companies reporting under IFRS. The financial statements 
comply with IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

 
(ii) Historical cost convention 
 
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the following: 
- certain financial assets and liabilities, certain classes of property, plant and equipment- 

measured at fair value. 
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GRANDBAY CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 
 
2. Summary of significant accounting policies cont’d 
 

a) Basis of preparation cont’d 
 
(iii) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted 
 

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not 
mandatory for 31 December 2021 reporting periods and have not been early adopted by the 
Society. These standards are not expected to have a material impact on the entity in the 
current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions. 
 

b) Cash and cash equivalents 
 
For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 
includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value. 

 
c) Financial assets and liabilities 

 
Measurement methods 

 
Amortised cost and effective interest rate 

 
The amortised cost is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured 
at initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative 
amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount 
and the maturity amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any loss allowance. 

 
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or 
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability to the gross 
carrying amount of a financial asset (i.e. its amortised cost before any impairment allowance) 
or to the amortised cost of a financial liability. The calculation does not consider expected 
credit losses and includes transaction costs, premiums or discounts and fees and points paid or 
received that are integral to the effective interest rate, such as origination fees.  

 
When the Society revises the estimates of future cash flows, the carrying amount of the 
respective financial assets or financial liability is adjusted to reflect the new estimate 
discounted using the original effective interest rate. Any changes are recognised in profit or 
loss. 
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GRANDBAY CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 
 
2. Summary of significant accounting policies cont’d 

 
c) Financial assets and liabilities cont’d 

 
Interest income 
 
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of 
financial assets, except for financial assets that have subsequently become credit impaired (or 
'stage 3'), for which interest revenue is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to their 
amortised cost (i.e.net of the expected credit loss provision). 

 
Initial recognition and measurement 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Society becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are 
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Society commits to purchase or sell the asset. 
 
At initial recognition, the Society measures a financial asset or financial liability at its fair value 
plus or minus, in the case of a financial asset or financial liability not at fair value through profit 
or loss, transaction costs that are incremental and directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of 
the financial asset or financial liability, such as fees and commissions. Transaction costs of 
financial assets and financial liabilities carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in 
profit or loss.  
 
Immediately after initial recognition, an expected credit loss allowance (ECL) is recognised for 
financial assets measured at amortised cost and investments in debt instruments measured at 
FVOCI, which results in an accounting loss being recognised in profit or loss when an asset is 
newly originated. 
 
When the fair value of financial assets and liabilities differs from the transaction price on initial 
recognition, the entity recognises the difference as follows: 
 
(a) When the fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset 

or liability (i.e. a Level 1 input) or based on a valuation technique that uses only data from 
observable markets, the difference is recognised as a gain or loss. 
 

(b) In all other cases, the difference is deferred and the timing of recognition of deferred day one 
profit or loss is determined individually. It is either amortised over the life of the instrument, 
deferred until the instrument's fair value can be determined using market observable inputs, or 
realised through settlement. 
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GRANDBAY CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 
 
2. Summary of significant accounting policies cont’d 

 
c) Financial assets and liabilities cont’d 

 
Financial assets 
(i) Classification and subsequent measurement 
 
The Society classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories: 

- Fair value through profit or loss (FVPL);  
- Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); or 
- Amortised cost 

 
The classification requirements for debt and equity instruments are described below: 
 
Debt instruments 
Debt instruments are those instruments that meet the definition of a financial liability from the 
issuer's perspective, such as loans, government and corporate bonds and trade receivables 
purchased from clients in factoring arrangements without recourse. 
 
Classification and subsequent measurement of debt instruments depend on: 
(i) the Society's business model for managing the asset; and 
(ii) the cash flow characteristics of the asset. 
 
Based on these factors, the Society classifies its debt instruments into one of the following three 
measurement categories: 
 

- Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash 
flows measured at amortised cost. The carrying amount of these assets is adjusted by any 
expected credit loss allowance recognised and measured. Interest income from these financial 
assets is included in 'Interest and similar income' using the effective interest rate method. 

 
- Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI): Financial assets that are held for 

collection payments of principal and interest, and that are not designated at FVPL, are 
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). Movements in the 
carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains or 
losses, interest revenue and foreign exchange which are recognised in profit or loss. When the 
financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is 
reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognised in 'Net Investment income'. Interest 
income from these financial assets is included in 'Interest income' using the effective interest 
rate method. 
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GRANDBAY CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 
 
2. Summary of significant accounting policies cont’d 

 
c)   Financial assets and liabilities cont’d 

 
-   Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or 

FVOCI are measured at fair value through profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt investment 
that is subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss and is not part of a hedging 
relationship is recognised in profit or loss and presented in the profit or loss statement within 
'Net trading income' in the period in which it arises, unless it arises from debt instruments that 
were designated at fair value or which are not held for trading, in which case they are 
presented separately in 'Net investment income'. Interest income from these financial assets is 
included in 'Interest income' using the effective interest rate method. 
 

Business model: the business model reflects how the Society manages the assets in order to 
generate cash flows. That is, whether the Society’s objective is solely to collect the contractual 
cash flows from the assets or is to collect both the contractual cash flows and cash flows arising 
from the sale of assets. If neither of these is applicable (e.g. financial assets are held for trading 
purposes), then the financial assets are classified as part of 'other' business model and measured at 
FVPL. Factors considered by the Society in determining the business model for a group of assets 
include past experience on how the cash flows for these assets were collected, how the asset's 
performance is evaluated and reported to key management personnel, how risks are assessed and 
managed and how managers are compensated. For example, the Society's business model for the 
mortgage loan book is to hold to collect contractual cash flows. 
 
Another example is the liquidity portfolio of assets, which is held by the Society as part of 
liquidity management and is generally classified within the hold to collect and sell business 
model. Securities held for trading are held principally for the purpose of selling in the near term or 
are part of a portfolio of financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is 
evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking. These securities are classified in the 
'other' business model and measured at FVPL. 
 
SPPI: Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to collect 
contractual cash flows and sell, the Society assesses whether the financial instruments' cash flows 
represent solely payments of principal and interest (the 'SPPI test'). In making this assessment, the 
Society considers whether the contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic lending 
arrangement i.e. interest includes only consideration for the time value of money, credit risk, other 
basic lending risks and a profit margin that is consistent with a basic lending arrangement. Where 
the contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or volatility that are inconsistent with a basic 
lending arrangement, the related financial asset is classified and measured at fair value through 
profit or loss. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies cont’d 

 
c)  Financial assets and liabilities cont’d 

 
Equity instruments 
 
Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of equity from the issuer's perspective; 
that is, instruments that do not contain a contractual obligation to pay and that evidence a residual 
interest in the issuer's net assets. Examples of equity instruments include basic ordinary shares. 
 
The Society subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value through profit or loss, 
except where the Society's management has elected, at initial recognition, to irrevocably designate 
an equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income. The Society's policy is to 
designate equity investments as FVOCI when those investments are held for purposes other than 
to generate investment returns. When this election is used, fair value gains and losses are 
recognised in OCI and are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss, including on disposal. 
Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) are not reported separately from other 
changes in fair value. Dividends, when representing a return on such investments, continue to be 
recognised in profit or loss as other income when the Society's right to receive payments is 
established. 
 
Gains and losses on equity investments at FVPL are included in the 'Other Income' line in the 
statement of profit or loss. 
 
(ii) Impairment 
 
The Society assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses ('ECL') associated with 
its debt instrument assets carried at amortised cost and FVOCI and with the exposure arising from 
loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts. The Society recognises a loss allowance for 
such losses at each reporting date. The measurement of ECL reflects: 
 
- An unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of 

possible outcomes; 
- The time value of money; and 
- Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the 

reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic 
conditions. 

 
Note 4 (a) provides more detail of how the expected credit loss allowance is measured. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies cont’d 

 
c) Financial assets and liabilities cont’d 
 

(iii) Modification of loans 
 
The Society sometimes renegotiates or otherwise modifies the contractual cash flows of loans to 
members. When this happens, the Society assesses whether or not the new terms are substantially 
different to the original terms. The Society does this by considering, among others, the following 
factors: 

- If the borrower is in financial difficulty, whether the modification merely reduces the 
contractual cash flows to amounts the borrower is expected to be able to pay. 

- Whether any substantial new terms are introduced, such as a profit share/equity-based return 
that 

- substantially affects the risk profile of the loan. 
- Significant extension of the loan term when the borrower is not in financial difficulty. 
- Significant change in the interest rate. 
- Insertion of collateral, other security or credit enhancements that significantly affect the credit 

risk associated with the loan. 
 
If the terms are substantially different, the Society derecognises the original financial asset and 
recognises a 'new' asset at fair value and recalculates a new effective interest rate for the asset. 
The date of renegotiation is consequently considered to be the date of initial recognition for 
impairment calculation purposes, including for the purpose of determining whether a significant 
increase in credit risk has occurred.  
 
However, the Society also assesses whether the new financial asset recognised is deemed to be 
credit-impaired at initial recognition, especially in circumstances where the renegotiation was 
driven by the debtor being unable to make the originally agreed payments. Differences in the 
carrying amount are also recognised in profit or loss as a gain or loss on derecognition. 
 
If the terms are not substantially different, the renegotiation or modification does not result in 
derecognition, and the Society recalculates the gross carrying amount based on the revised cash 
flows of the financial asset and recognises a modification gain or loss in profit or loss. The new 
gross carrying amount is recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the original 
effective interest rate (or credit-adjusted effective interest rate for purchased or originated credit-
impaired financial assets). The impact of modifications of financial assets on the expected credit 
loss calculation is discussed in note 4 (a). 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies cont’d 

 
c) Financial assets and liabilities cont’d 
 
(iv) Derecognition other than on a modification 
Financial assets, or a portion thereof, are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive the 
cash flows from the assets have expired, or when they have been transferred and either (i) the 
Society transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, or (ii) the Society neither 
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and the Society has not 
retained control. 
 
The Society enters into transactions where it retains the contractual rights to receive cash flows 
from assets but assumes a contractual obligation to pay those cash flows to other entities and 
transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards. These transactions are accounted for as 'pass 
through' transfers that result in derecognition if the Society: 
 
(i) Has no obligation to make payments unless it collects equivalent amounts from the assets; 
(ii) Is prohibited from selling or pledging the assets; and  
(iii) Has an obligation to remit any cash it collects from the assets without material delay. 

 
Collateral (shares and bonds) furnished by the Society under standard repurchase agreements and 
securities lending and borrowing transactions are not derecognised because the Society retains 
substantially all the risks and rewards on the basis of the predetermined repurchase price, and the 
criteria for derecognition are therefore not met. This also applies to certain securitisation 
transactions in which the Society retains a subordinated residual interest. 
 
Financial liabilities 
 
(i) Classification and subsequent measurement 
In both the current and prior period, financial liabilities are classified as subsequently measured at 
amortised cost, except for: 

- Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss: this classification is applied to 
financial liabilities designated as such at initial recognition. Gains or losses on financial 
liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss are presented partially in other 
comprehensive income (the amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is 
attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability, which is determined as the amount 
that is not attributable to changes in market conditions that give rise to market risk) and 
partially profit or loss (the remaining amount of change in the fair value of the liability). This 
is unless such a presentation would create, or enlarge, an accounting mismatch, in which case 
the gains and losses attributable to changes in the credit risk of the liability are also presented 
in profit or loss; 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies cont’d 
 
c) Financial assets and liabilities cont’d 

 
- Financial liabilities arising from the transfer of financial assets which did not qualify for 

derecognition, whereby a financial liability is recognised for the consideration received for 
the transfer. In subsequent periods, the Society recognises any expense incurred on the 
financial liability; and 

 
- Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments Note 2 (d). 

 
(ii) Derecognition 
 
Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished (i.e. when the obligation 
specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires). 
 
The exchange between the Society and its original lenders of debt instruments with substantially 
different terms, as well as substantial modifications of the terms of existing financial liabilities, 
are accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a 
new financial liability. The terms are substantially different if the discounted present value of the 
cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received and discounted 
using the original effective interest rate, is at least 10% different from the discounted present 
value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. 
 
In addition, other qualitative factors, such as the currency that the instrument is denominated in, 
changes in the type of interest rate, new conversion features attached to the instrument and change 
in covenants are also taken into consideration. If an exchange of debt instruments or modification 
of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of 
the gain or loss on the extinguishment. If the exchange or modification is not accounted for as an 
extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred adjust the carrying amount of the liability and are 
amortised over the remaining term of the modified liability. 

 
d) Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments  

 
Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the issuer to make specified payments to 
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when 
due, in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Such financial guarantees are given to 
banks, financial institutions and others on behalf of members to secure loans, overdrafts and other 
banking facilities. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies cont’d 
 
d) Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments cont’d 

 
Financial guarantee contracts are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at the 
higher of: 
 
- The amount of the loss allowance; and 
- The premium received on initial recognition less income recognised in accordance with the 

principles of IFRS 15. 
 

Loan commitments provided by the Society are measured as the amount of the loss allowance. 
The Society has not provided any commitment to provide loans at a below-market interest rate, or 
that can be settled net in cash or by delivering or issuing another financial instrument. 
 
For loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowance is recognised as a 
provision. However, for contracts that include both a loan and an undrawn commitment and the 
Society cannot separately identify the expected credit losses on the undrawn commitment 
component from those on the loan component, the expected credit losses on the undrawn 
commitment are recognised together with the loss allowance for the loan. To the extent that the 
combined expected credit losses exceed the gross carrying amount of the loan, the expected credit 
losses are recognised as a provision. 
 

e) Functional and presentation currency 
 

(i) Functional and Presentation Currency 
Items included in the financial statements of the Society are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the Society operates (‘the functional currency’). The 
financial statements are presented in Eastern Caribbean Dollars, which is the Society’s functional 
and presentation currency 
 
(ii) Transactions and Balances 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of 
such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies at year end exchange rates are generally recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings are presented in the statement of 
profit or loss, within finance costs. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in 
the statement of profit or loss on a net basis within other gains / (losses). 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies cont’d 

 
e) Functional and presentation currency cont’d 
 

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. Translation differences on assets 
and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For example, 
translation differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair value 
through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and 
translation differences on non-monetary assets such as equities classified as at fair value through 
other comprehensive income are recognised in other comprehensive income. 

 
f) Property, plant and equipment 

 
Land and buildings are stated at valuations carried out in 1994, 1996 and 2021 with subsequent 
additions at cost, less subsequent depreciation for building.  All other property, plant and 
equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation.  Historical cost includes expenditure that 
is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 

 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will 
flow to the Society and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any 
component accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All repairs and 
maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are 
incurred.  

 
Land is not depreciated. Depreciation and amortization are calculated on the straight-line method 
to write down the cost of such assets to their residual value over their estimated useful lives as 
follows; 

 
Building                                           2%, 
Furniture fixtures and equipment  10% & 15%, 
Computer Systems            25% 
Motor Vehicles                        25% 

 
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of 
each reporting period. 

 
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s 
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 

 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These 
are included in profit or loss. When revalued assets are sold, it is Society policy to transfer any 
amounts included in other reserves in respect of those assets to retained earnings. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies cont’d 

 
f) Property, plant and equipment cont’d 

 
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value 
less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are 
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are 
largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating 
units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for 
possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting period. 

 
g) Intangible assets 
 

Costs associated with maintaining software programmes are recognised as an expense as 
incurred.  

 
Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the software include employee costs 
and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads. 

 
Capitalised development costs are recorded as intangible assets and amortised from the point 
at which the asset is ready for use. 

 
Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are 
tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  

 
h) Payables 
 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Society prior to the 
end of the financial year which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid 
within thirty (30) days of recognition. 

 
i) Borrowings 

 
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. 

 
Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost. 

 
Borrowings are removed from the statement of financial position when the obligation 
specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. 
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j) Dividends 
  

Dividends on shares are recognized in equity in the period in which they are declared. 
 

Section 5 of the Regulations to the Co-operative Societies Act authorizes the Society to pay a 
dividend on its shares at a rate which is not greater than three percent above savings rate set by the 
Eastern Caribbean Central Bank (ECCB). As at December 31, 2021 the ECCB savings rate was 
two percent. 

 
Fair value gains on investment securities available–for-sale are not considered in determining 
income for the distribution of dividends. 

 
k) Revenue recognition 
 
Interest income and expense 

 
Interest income and expense are recognized in the income statement for all interest-bearing 
instruments on an accrual basis using effective interest rates. Interest income includes income on 
fixed investments. 
 
When the collectability of loans becomes doubtful, they would be written down to their 
recoverable amounts and interest income is thereafter recognized based on the rate of interest used 
to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the recoverable amount.  

 
Dividend and other income 
 
Dividend income and other income are recognized when received.  
 
l) Provisions 
 
Provisions for legal claims and make good obligations are recognised when the Society has a 
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of 
resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably estimated. 
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. 
 
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in 
settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is 
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same 
class of obligations may be small. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies cont’d 

 
l) Provisions cont’d 
 

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure 
required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate used to 
determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value 
of money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time 
is recognised as interest expense. 

 
m) Employee benefits 

 
(i) Short-term obligations 

 
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating 
sick leave that are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which 
the employees render the related service are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the end 
of the reporting period and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are 
settled. The liabilities are presented as current employee benefit obligations in the balance sheet. 

 
(ii) Other long-term employee benefit obligations 

 
The Society also has liabilities for long service leave and annual leave that are not expected to be 
settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related 
service. These obligations are therefore measured as the present value of expected future payments to 
be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the end of the reporting period using the 
projected unit credit method.  

 
Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures 
and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the end of the 
reporting period of high-quality corporate bonds with terms and currencies that match, as closely as 
possible, the estimated future cash outflows. Remeasurements as a result of experience adjustments 
and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognised in profit or loss. 

 
The obligations are presented as current liabilities in the balance sheet if the Society does not have an 
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least twelve months after the reporting period, regardless 
of when the actual settlement is expected to occur. 

 
n) Taxation 

 
The Society’s income is exempt from taxation under section 25 (m) of the Income Tax Act Chapter 
67: 01 of the Laws of the Commonwealth of Dominica. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies cont’d 
 

o) Comparatives 
Where necessary, comparatives figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation 
in the current year. 
 
p) Rounding of amounts 
All amounts disclosed in the financial statements and notes have been rounded off to the nearest 
EC dollar unless otherwise stated. 

 
3. Critical accounting estimates and judgement 

 
The preparation of financial statements requires the use of accounting estimates which, by 
definition, will seldom equal the actual results. Management also needs to exercise judgement in 
applying the Society's accounting policies. 
 
This note provides an overview of the areas that involve a higher degree of judgement or 
complexity, and major sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of resulting in 
a material adjustment within the next financial year. Detailed information about each of these 
estimates and judgements is included in the related notes together with information about the 
basis of calculation for each affected line item in the financial statements. 
 
Measurement of the expected credit loss allowance 
The measurement of the expected credit loss allowance for financial assets measured at amortised 
cost and FVOCI is an area that requires the use of complex models and significant assumptions 
about future economic conditions and credit behaviour (e.g. the likelihood of members defaulting 
and the resulting losses). Explanation of the inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques used in 
measuring ECL is further detailed in note 4 (a), which also sets out key sensitivities of the ECL to 
changes in these elements. 
 
A number of significant judgements are also required in applying the accounting requirements for 
measuring ECL, such as: 
- Determining criteria for significant increase in credit risk; 
- Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL; 
- Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios for each type of 

product/market and the associated ECL; and 
- Establishing groups of similar financial assets for the purposes of measuring ECL. 
 
Detailed information about the judgements and estimates made by the Society in the above areas 
is set out in note 4 (a). 
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4. Financial Risk Management 
 

This note explains the Society’s exposure to financial risks and how these risks could affect the 
Society’s future financial performance.  
 

Risk  Exposure arising from  Measurement  Management 
Credit risk Cash and cash equivalents, 

trade receivables, debt 
investments and contract 
assets 

Aging analysis 
Credit ratings 

Diversification of bank 
deposits, credit limits 
and letters of credit 
Investment guidelines 
for debt investments 

Market risk – 
security prices 

Investments in equity 
securities 

Sensitivity 
analysis 

Portfolio 
diversification 

Currency risk Recognised financial assets 
and liabilities not 
denominated in Eastern 
Caribbean Dollars (XCD) 

Cash flow 
forecasting 

Strict guidelines for 
conducting foreign 
currency transactions 

Liquidity risk Borrowings and other 
liabilities 

Rolling cash flow 
forecasts 

Availability of 
committed credit lines 
and borrowing facilities 

 
(a) Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk of suffering financial loss, should any of the Society's members, clients or 
market counterparties fail to fulfil their contractual obligations to the Society. Credit risk arises 
mainly from interbank, commercial and member loans and advances, and loan commitments 
arising from such lending activities, but can also arise from credit enhancement provided, 
financial guarantees, letters of credit, endorsements and acceptances. 
 
Credit risk is the single largest risk for the Society's operations; management therefore carefully 
manages its exposure to credit risk. The credit risk management and control are centralised in a 
credit risk management team which reports regularly to the Board of Directors. 

 
Credit risk measurement 
 
Loans and advances (incl. loan commitments and guarantees) 
The estimation of credit exposure for risk management purposes is complex and requires the use 
of models, as the exposure varies with changes in market conditions, expected cash flows and the 
passage of time. The assessment of credit risk of a portfolio of assets entails further estimations as 
to the likelihood of defaults occurring, of the associated loss ratios and of default correlations 
between counterparties. The Society measures credit risk using Probability of Default (PD), 
Exposure at Default (EAD) and Loss Given Default (LGD). This is similar to the approach used 
for the purposes of measuring Expected Credit Loss (ECL) under IFRS 9.  
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4. Financial Risk Management cont’d 

 
(a) Credit risk cont’d 
 
Credit risk grading 
The Society uses internal credit risk gradings that reflect its assessment of the probability of 
default of individual counterparties. The Society use internal rating models tailored to the various 
categories of counterparty. Borrower and loan specific information collected at the time of 
application (such as disposable income, and level of collateral for retail exposures is fed into this 
rating model. This allows for considerations which may not be captured as part of the other data 
inputs into the model. The credit grades are calibrated such that the risk of default increases 
exponentially at each higher risk grade. 
 
Expected credit loss measurement 
 
IFRS 9 outlines a 'three-stage' model for impairment based on changes in credit quality since 
initial recognition as summarised below: 
 
- A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition is classified in 'Stage 

1' and has its credit risk continuously monitored by the Society. 
 

- If a significant increase in credit risk ('SICR') since initial recognition is identified, the 
financial instrument is moved to 'Stage 2' but is not yet deemed to be credit-impaired. Please 
refer to note for a description of how the Society determines when a significant increase in 
credit risk has occurred. 
 

- If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial instrument is then moved to 'Stage 
3'.  

 
- Financial instruments in Stage 1 have their ECL measured at an amount equal to the portion 

of lifetime expected credit losses that result from default events possible within the next 12 
months. Instruments in Stages 2 or 3 have their ECL measured based on expected credit 
losses on a lifetime basis. Please refer to note 4 (a) for a description of inputs, assumptions 
and estimation techniques used in measuring the ECL. 

 
- A pervasive concept in measuring ECL in accordance with IFRS 9 is that it should consider 

forward-looking information. Note 4 (a) includes an explanation of how the Society has 
incorporated this in its ECL models. 

 
Further explanation is also provided of how the Society determines appropriate groupings when 
ECL is measured on a collective basis. 
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4. Financial Risk Management cont’d 

 
(a) Credit risk cont’d 
 
The following diagram summarises the impairment requirements under IFRS 9 (other than purchased or 
originated credit-impaired financial assets): 
 

Change in credit quality since initial recognition 
 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 
(Initial recognition) (Significant increase in credit 

risk since initial recognition) 
(Credit-impaired assets) 

   
12-month expected credit losses Lifetime expected credit losses Lifetime expected credit losses 

 
The key judgements and assumptions adopted by the Society in addressing the requirements of the 
standard are discussed below: 

 
Significant increase in credit risk (SICR) 

 
Qualitative criteria: 
For the loan portfolio, if the borrower meets one or more of the following criteria: 
- In short-term forbearance 
- Direct debit cancellation 
- Extension to the terms granted 
- Previous arrears within the last [12] months 

 
For Treasury portfolios, if the borrower meets one or more of the following criteria: 
- Significant increase in credit spread 
- Significant adverse changes in business, financial and/or economic conditions in which the borrower 

operates 
- Actual or expected forbearance or restructuring 
- Actual or expected significant adverse change in operating results of the borrower 
- Significant change in collateral value (secured facilities only) which is expected to increase risk of 

default 
- Early signs of cashflow/liquidity problems such as delay in servicing of trade creditors/loans 

 
The assessment of SICR incorporates forward-looking information and is performed on an annual basis at 
a portfolio level for all financial instruments held by the Society.  
 
The criteria used to identify SICR are monitored and reviewed periodically for appropriateness by the 
independent Credit Risk team. 
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4. Financial Risk Management cont’d 
 

(a) Credit risk cont’d 
 
Definition of default and credit-impaired assets 

 
The Society defines a financial instrument as in default, which is fully aligned with the definition of credit 
impaired, when it meets one or more of the following criteria: 

 
Quantitative criteria 

 
The borrower is more than 90 days past due on its contractual payments  

 
Qualitative criteria 

 
The borrower meets the unlikeliness to pay criteria, which indicates the borrower is in significant financial 
difficulty. These are instances where: 

 
- The borrower is in long-term forbearance 
- The borrower is deceased 
- The borrower is insolvent 
- The borrower is in breach of financial covenant(s) 
- An active market for that financial asset has disappeared because of financial difficulties 
- Concessions have been made by the lender relating to the borrower's financial difficulty 
- It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy 
- Financial assets are purchased or originated at a deep discount that reflects the incurred credit losses. 

 
The criteria above have been applied to all financial instruments held by the Society and are consistent 
with the definition of default used for internal credit risk management purposes. The default definition has 
been applied consistently to model the Probability of Default (PD), Exposure at Default (EAD) and Loss 
given Default (LGD) throughout the Group's expected loss calculations. 

 
An instrument is considered to no longer be in default (i.e. to have cured) when it no longer meets any of 
the default criteria for a consecutive period of six months. This period of six months has been determined 
based on an analysis which considers the likelihood of a financial instrument returning to default status 
after cure using different possible cure definitions. 
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4. Financial Risk Management cont’d 
 

(a) Credit risk cont’d 
 
The Expected Credit Loss (ECL) is measured on either a 12-month (12M) or Lifetime basis depending on 
whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred since initial recognition or whether an asset is 
considered to be credit-impaired. Expected credit losses are the discounted product of the Probability of 
Default (PD), Exposure at Default (EAD), and Loss Given Default (LGD), defined as follows: 

 
- The PD represents the likelihood of a borrower defaulting on its financial obligation (as per 

"Definition of default and credit-impaired" above), either over the next 12 months (12M PD), or over 
the remaining lifetime (Lifetime PD) of the obligation. 

 
- EAD is based on the amounts the Society expects to be owed at the time of default, over the next 12 

months (12M EAD) or over the remaining lifetime (Lifetime EAD). For example, for a revolving 
commitment, the Society includes the current drawn balance plus any further amount that is expected 
to be drawn up to the current contractual limit by the time of default, should it occur. 

 
- Loss Given Default (LGD) represents the Society's expectation of the extent of loss on a defaulted 

exposure. LGD varies by type of counterparty, type and seniority of claim and availability of collateral 
or other credit support. LGD is expressed as a percentage loss per unit of exposure at the time of 
default (EAD). LGD is calculated on a 12-month or lifetime basis, where 12-month LGD is the 
percentage of loss expected to be made if the default occurs in the next 12 months and Lifetime LGD 
is the percentage of loss expected to be made if the default occurs over the remaining expected 
lifetime of the loan. 

 
The ECL is determined by projecting the PD, LGD and EAD for each future month and for each 
individual exposure or collective segment. These three components are multiplied together and adjusted 
for the likelihood of survival (i.e. the exposure has not prepaid or defaulted in an earlier month). This 
effectively calculates an ECL for each future month, which is then discounted back to the reporting date 
and summed. The discount rate used in the ECL calculation is the original effective interest rate or an 
approximation thereof. 

 
The 12-month and lifetime EADs are determined based on the expected payment profile, which varies by 
product type. 

 
- For amortising products and bullet repayment loans, this is based on the contractual repayments owed 

by the borrower over a 12 month or lifetime basis. This will also be adjusted for any expected 
overpayments made by a borrower. Early repayment/refinance assumptions are also incorporated into 
the calculation. 
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GRANDBAY CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 

 
 

4. Financial Risk Management cont’d 
 

(a) Credit risk cont’d 
 
The 12-month and lifetime LGDs are determined based on the factors which impact the recoveries made 
post default. These vary by product type. 

 
- For secured products, this is primarily based on collateral type and projected collateral values, 

historical discounts to market/book values due to forced sales, time to repossession and recovery costs 
observed. 

 
- For unsecured products, LGD's are typically set at product level due to the limited differentiation in 

recoveries achieved across different borrowers. These LGD's are influenced by collection strategies, 
including contracted debt sales and price. 
 
 

Forward-looking economic information is also included in determining the 12-month and lifetime PD, 
EAD and LGD. These assumptions vary by product type.  

 
The assumptions underlying the ECL calculation - such as how the maturity profile of the PDs and how 
collateral values change etc. - are monitored and reviewed on an annual basis. 
 
There have been no significant changes in estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during 
the reporting period. 
 
Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL models 
 
The assessment of SICR and the calculation of ECL both incorporate forward-looking information. The 
Society has performed historical analysis and identified the key economic variables impacting credit risk 
and expected credit losses for each portfolio. 
 
As with any economic forecasts, the projections and likelihoods of occurrence are subject to a high degree 
of inherent uncertainty and therefore the actual outcomes may be significantly different to those projected. 
The Society considers these forecasts to represent its best estimate of the possible outcomes and has 
analysed the non-linearities and asymmetries within the Society's different portfolios to establish that the 
chosen scenarios are appropriately representative of the range of possible scenarios. 
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GRANDBAY CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 

4. Financial Risk Management cont’d 
 
(a) Credit risk cont’d 

 
Grouping of instruments for losses measured on a collective basis 

 
For expected credit loss provisions modelled on a collective basis, a grouping of exposures is performed 
on the basis of shared risk characteristics, such that risk exposures within a group are homogeneous. In 
performing this grouping, there must be sufficient information for the group to be statistically credible. 
Where sufficient information is not available internally, the Society has considered benchmarking 
internal/external supplementary data to use for modelling purposes. The characteristics and any 
supplementary data used to determine groupings are outlined below: 

 
Retail - Groupings for collective measurement 
- Loan type (e .g. Mortgage, Personal and Education, Vehicles etc.) 

 
The following exposures are assessed individually: 
Retail 
- Stage 3 loans with current exposure above $100,000 
- Properties in repossession proceedings 

 
The appropriateness of groupings is monitored and reviewed on a periodic basis by the Credit Risk team. 

 
Loss allowance 
The loss allowance recognised in the period is impacted by a variety of factors, as described below: 
 
- Transfers between Stage 1 and Stages 2 or 3 due to financial instruments experiencing significant 

increases (or decreases) of credit risk or becoming credit-impaired in the period, and the consequent 
"step up" (or "step down") between 12-month and Lifetime ECL; 

 
- Additional allowances for new financial instruments recognised during the period, as well as releases 

for financial instruments de-recognised in the period; 
 
- Impact on the measurement of ECL due to changes in PDs, EADs and LGDs in the period, arising 

from regular refreshing of inputs to models; 
 

- Impacts on the measurement of ECL due to changes made to models and assumptions; 
 

- Discount unwind within ECL due to the passage of time, as ECL is measured on a present value basis; 
 

- Financial assets derecognised during the period and write-offs of allowances related to assets that 
were written off during the period. 
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GRANDBAY CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 
 
4. Financial Risk Management cont’d 

 
Write-off policy 

 
The Society writes off financial assets, in whole or in part, when it has exhausted all practical recovery 
efforts and has concluded there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no 
reasonable expectation of recovery include (i) ceasing enforcement activity and (ii) where the Society's 
recovery method is foreclosing on collateral and the value of the collateral is such that there is no 
reasonable expectation of recovering in full.  

 
The Society may write-off financial assets that are still subject to enforcement activity. The Society still 
seeks to recover amounts it is legally owed in full, but which have been partially written off due to no 
reasonable expectation of full recovery. 

 
Modification of financial assets 

 
The Society sometimes modifies the terms of loans provided to members due to commercial 
renegotiations, or for distressed loans, with a view to maximising recovery. Such restructuring activities 
include extended payment term arrangements, payment holidays and payment forgiveness. Restructuring 
policies and practices are based on indicators or criteria which, in the judgement of management, indicate 
that payment will most likely continue. These policies are kept under continuous review. Restructuring is 
most commonly applied to term loans. 

 
The risk of default of such assets after modification is assessed at the reporting date and compared with the 
risk under the original terms at initial recognition, when the modification is not substantial and so does not 
result in derecognition of the original asset. The Society monitors the subsequent performance of modified 
assets. The Society may determine that the credit risk has significantly improved after restructuring, so that 
the assets are moved from Stage 3 or Stage 2 (Lifetime ECL) to Stage 1 (12-month ECL).  

 
(a) Credit risk  
 

This is only the case for assets which have performed in accordance with the new terms for six 
consecutive months or more.  

 
The Society continues to monitor if there is a subsequent significant increase in credit risk in relation to     
such assets through the use of specific models for modified assets. 

 
(b)    Market risk 
 

The Society is exposed to market risks on a daily basis. Investments have been diversified to reduce 
the impact of market risk. 
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GRANDBAY CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 
 
4. Financial Risk Management cont’d 
 

(c) Currency risk 
 

The Society’s exposure to currency risk is minimal since the Society’s assets and liabilities are 
held in the functional currency, which is the Eastern Caribbean Dollar. Management has issued 
strict guidelines to staff for processing foreign currency transactions. 

 
(d) Liquidity risk  
 

The Society maintains sufficient available cash and committed credit lines and borrowing 
facilities to meet the demands of its members. 
 

 
5. Cash and Bank Balances 

  
2021 
EC$ 

2020 
EC$ 

    
This comprises as follows: -   
      Cash on hand  248,486 190,653 
      Current account 986,131 450,494 
      Saving account 4,165,928 6,103,427 
    

  5,400,545 6,744,574 
 
 
6.   Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit and Loss 

 
       The Society classifies the following financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL): 
 

- debt investments that do not qualify for measurement at either amortised cost (see note 8) or 
FVOCI (see note 7) 

 
- equity investments that are held for trading, and 
 
- equity investments for which the Society has not elected to recognise fair value gains and losses 

through OCI. 
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GRANDBAY CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 
 
 
6.   Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit and Loss Cont’d 
 
       Financial assets mandatorily measured at FVPL include the following: 
 

(a) Equity Investments    

  2021 2020 

  $ $ 
    
DOMLEC shares at fair value (see note 6 (b) )  135,275 154,600 
Shares in DUTC (cost less provision for diminution in value)  10 10 
Dominica Co-operative Societies League as Trustee of share in DUTC  10 10 
Roseau Co-operative Credit Union shares at cost  50 50 

  135,345 154,670 
 
 

   
(b)  Fair value gain   
 2021 2020 
 $ $ 
Fair value gain on investment is not available for distribution   

DOMLEC shares at cost  77,300 
          

77,300  

Fair value gain of $4 per share at 31/12/2014 77,300 
               

77,300  

Fair value gain of $4.10 per share at 31/12/2015 3,865 
                 

3,865  
 
Fair value loss of $4.00 per share at 31/12/2020 (3,865) (3,865) 
 
Fair value loss of $3.50 per share at 31/12/2021 (19,325) -  

38,650 shares quoted at $3.50 per share 135,275 
           

154,600  
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GRANDBAY CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 
 
 
7.   Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income 
 

 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) comprise: 
 

• Equity securities which are not held for trading, and which the Society has irrevocably 
elected at initial recognition to recognise in this category. These are strategic investments and 
the Society considers this classification to be more relevant. 

 
• Debt securities where the contractual cash flows are solely principal and interest and the 

objective of the Society’s business model is achieved both by collecting contractual cash 
flows and selling financial assets. 

 
Financial assets at Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income include the following debt and  
equity investments: 
 

 2021 2020 

 $ $ 
Equity Investments   
     Shares at Dominica Co-op. Societies League Ltd. 21,000 21,000 
   
Debt investments   
      Statutory Reserve Deposit (See note 10) 446,379 446,379 
      Fixed deposits at League & Other Credit Unions (See note 9) 52,608 51,500 
   
 519,987 518,879 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2021 Page | F33

 
 
GRANDBAY CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 
 
 
8.   Financial Assets at Amortised Cost 
 

The Society classifies its financial assets at amortised cost only if both of the following criteria are 
met: 

 
- the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash 

flows, and 
- the contractual terms give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest. 
 

       Financial assets at amortised cost include the following debt investments: 
 

  
2021 

$ 
2020 

$ 
(a)      Loans and advances to Members   
    
          Loans to members  24,872,908 21,939,638 
          Loans to related parties  2,425,004 2,500,796 
  27,297,912 24,440,434 
    
         Less: Allowance for Expected Credit Losses 1,345,756 1,094,159 
    
  25,952,156 23,346,275 

 
 

(b)   Allowance for Expected Credit Losses   

  
2021 

$ 
2020 

$ 
    

        Provision at beginning of year  1,094,159 964,228 
        Bad debts recovered  (57,132) (6,540) 
        Bad debts written off - - 
        Prior year provisioning restated 57,132 6,540 
        Expected credit loss recognised during the period 251,597 129,931 
    
        Closing Allowance for Expected Credit Losses  1,345,756 1,094,159 
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GRANDBAY CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 
 
8.   Financial Assets at Amortised Cost cont’d 
 

(c)  Originated Loans - Sectoral Analysis 2021 2020 
  $ $ 

    
Personal & education  5,270,430 4,484,440 
Mortgage  15,568,648 13,450,875 
Vehicle  3,462,089 3,582,820 
Small business   700,955 706,118 
Land   2,094,765 2,101,313 
Debt consolidation  17,015 19,764 
Fishing/agriculture  184,010 95,104 

Total Loans  27,297,912 24,440,434 
 

(d)    Loans Approved but not Disbursed at Year End 
 

There were twelve (12) loans approved but not disbursed at year end.  Undisbursed value: 
$1,105,775. 

 
9.  Fixed deposits at Other Financial Institutions 
 

 2021 2020 
  $ $ 
 
Fixed deposits at league & credit union  52,608        51,500  
Fixed deposit at CLICO less impairment loss -                       -   
Fixed deposit at BAICO less impairment loss -                       -   

 Note 7 52,608      51,500  
    

Provision for Impairment on investment   
    
Fixed deposit at CLICO          1,124,085          1,124,085  

Less provision for impairment loss  
            

(1,124,085) 
            

(1,124,085) 

   
                        

-  
    
Fixed deposit at BAICO          1,119,796          1,119,796  
    

Less provision for impairment loss         (1,119,796) 
       

(1,119,796) 

  - 
                        

-  
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GRANDBAY CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 
 
10.   Statutory Reserve Deposit 

  2021 2020 

  $ $ 
    

 
Demand deposit at Dominica Co-op. Societies League Ltd Note 7 446,379 

     
446,379  

 
11.  (a)  Other assets 

    
  2021 2020 

  $ $ 
    

Prepayments  46,277 42,139 
Interest on reserve fund 10,936 21,873 
Family indemnity plan  23,069 25,797 
Inventory  14,058 6,477 
Western union  225,168 270,883 
Other receivables  126,441 173,714 
Interest receivable (see note 11 (b) )  137,873 162,478 
  583,822 703,361 

 
 
        (b) Interest Receivable 

  2021 2020 
  $ $ 
    

Interest receivable at beginning of year 162,478 102,547 
    
Increase/ (Decrease) in interest receivable on impaired loans  (24,605) 59,931 
    
Closing interest receivable (IFRS 9)  137,873 162,478 
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GRANDBAY CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 
 
13. Members Savings/Ordinary Deposits 

  2021 2020 
  $ $ 
    

Members Savings  19,503,933 18,503,461 
Ordinary Deposits  4,786,923 4,728,717 

  24,290,856 23,232,178 
 
Members’ savings formerly called “members shares” are now recorded as a liability in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

 
14. Term Deposits 

  2021 2020 
  $ $ 

    

Interest bearing fixed deposit at rates in range 2.5% to 5%  6,368,881 
   

6,501,866 
 
15.    Accounts Payable and Provisions 

 2021 2020 
  $ $ 

    
Staff Gratuity  8,871 8,871 
Annual General Meeting 15,000 12,000 
Audit Fees payable  7,250 7,250 
Other payables  11,667 9,779 
  42,788 37,900 

 
16.    Long Term Loan 

 2021 2020 
  $ $ 
    

National Bank of Dominica Term Loan   
Long-term portion  1,276,890 1,407,681 
Current portion  160,000 148,900 
  1,436,890 1,556,581 

          
A 4.5% p.a. loan repayable by monthly instalments of blended principal and interest of 
$18,001.00 over a 144 months period.  Pledged as security for the loan are an equitable 
mortgage over the Credit Union’s property at Berricoa, Lalay, Grandbay, plus insurances 
over the Credit Union’s building and credit balances held at the National Bank of Dominica 
Ltd to a maximum of EC$427,000. 
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GRANDBAY CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 
 
17.     Members' Capital (permanent shares) 
 

    
  2021 2020 

Issued and fully paid shares of $50 (par value) each  $ $ 
    

           Beginning of year  717,401 637,185 
           Issued during the year (net)  95,411 80,216 

    
            End of year  812,812 717,401 

 
           The liability of each member is limited to the paid-up shares. 
 

Shares may with the consent of the Board of Directors, but not otherwise, be transferred from 
one member to another.  Such transfers shall be in writing in such form as the Commissioner 
may approve and shall be subject to payment by the transferor and transferee of such fee for 
each transfer as the Board of Directors may prescribe.  The Board of Directors, may, in its 
absolute discretion, purchase shares from a member in case of hardship. 

 
18. Statutory Reserve 
 

The Co-operative Societies Act. No 2 of 2011 Section 125 (4) stipulates that a society shall 
credit no less than 20% of its net surplus to a reserve; and such Reserve Fund, subject to the 
approval of the Commissioner, may be used in the business of the Society, for the purpose of 
an exceptional nature including unforeseen losses, unexpected shortfalls in liquid cash, capital 
retention, repair and maintenance and the avoidance of external borrowing. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  2021 2020 
 $ $ 
Movements during the year were as follows:    
    
Balance - beginning of year  681,456 587,687 
Add:       Entrance Fee  622 523 
Add:       Adjustments  - - 
Appropriation from surplus  73,159 93,246 
    
  755,237 681,456 
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GRANDBAY CO-OPERATIVE CREDIT UNION LIMITED 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 
 
19.  Fair Value Reserve   
 2021 2020 

 $ $ 
   
             Balance beginning of the year 77,300             81,165   
             Appropriation from surplus  (19,325)          (3,865)    
             Disbursements -                  -    
 
             Balance end of year 57,975 77,300  
 
20.   Revaluation Surplus 
 

The Society’s land and building were revalued by Bernard Lloyd on December 20, 2014.    On     
November 11, 2021 the Society’s building was revalued by Mr Severin McKenzie of Mac 
Services Inc.  The Board of Directors accepted to valuation which was submitted on November 
30, 2021. 

    
         The resulting surplus on revaluation is recorded under members’ equity and is made up as         
         follows: 

 
2021 
EC$ 

2020 
EC$ 

   
         Surplus on revaluation of land 93,973 93,973 
         Surplus on revaluation of building 1,599,066 34,305 
   
          1,693,039 128,278 
 
21.  Net interest and Investment income 2021 2020 

  $ $ 
    
         Income from loans  2,118,558 1,912,940 
         Income from savings accounts  96,012 115,386 
         Income from liquid investments and fixed deposit  1,107 1,084 
         Interest on statutory reserve invested at league  10,936 10,936 
    
  2,226,613 2,040,346 

    
         Interest expense  2021 2020 

  $ $ 
   
         Interest on external loans 67,593 73,051 
         Interest paid to banks (bank charges, etc) 12,149 8,516 
         Interest on term deposit  172,373 192,180 
         Interest on savings  263,356 256,685 

  515,471 530,432 
    

         Net interest and investment income  1,711,142 1,509,914 
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22.   Other Income  2021 2020 

  $ $ 
         Dividend from league  -                   -   
         Dividend from other investments 8,119 3,865 
         Commission income   12,799 13,175 
         Cheque and service charge fees 12,462 7,419 
         Loan processing fees  25,190 25,600 
         Sale of pass books  3,871 2,974 
         ATM rental   1,800 3,600 
         Other income  35,788 15,022 
  100,029 71,655 
 
23.   Operating Cost 

        2021 2020 

          $ $ 
   
Employees' benefit expenses (see note 24) 512,057 408,723 
Governance (board & committee expense and honoraria) 57,505 33,130 
Members interest & protection 77,490 81,243 
Annual general meeting  27,457 20,855 
Education & training  13,483 10,485 
Audit fee  7,250 7,250 
League dues  28,027 28,021 
Utilities  77,813 55,886 
Building, public liability & fidelity insurance 20,576 18,175 
Building & computer repairs & maintenance 81,535 69,278 
Advertising, publicity, donations & sponsorship 96,286 60,433 
Security services  45,967 22,756 
Stationery, postage & office expenses 66,458 34,323 
Professional fees  13,582 14,018 
General expense  2,643 10,129 
  1,128,129 874,705 

 
24.    Employees' Benefit Expenses 

     2021 2020 
  $ $ 

    
Salaries  472,093 359,330 
Social Security contribution 34,029 25,378 
Travel allowances   600 7,200 
Gratuity  - - 
Staff bonus - 5,000 
Employer's liability insurance 4,735 5,215 
Uniform allowance 600 6,600 
  512,057 408,723 
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25.   Related Party Transactions 
 

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or 
exercise significant influence over the other party by making financial and operational   
decisions.  

 
  2021 2020 
          $ $ 

    
Interest income with related parties were as follows:    
       Directors  75,630 92,680 
       Committee members  34,595 41,273 
       Staff  74,942 58,414 
    
  185,167 192,367 

 
 

  2021              2020  

  
 

Loans 
$ 

Deposits/ 
Savings 

$ 

 
Loans 

$ 

Deposit/ 
Savings 

$ 
      

       Directors  1,304,386 197,624 1,303,004 187,094 
       Committee members  404,151 88,307 576,121 94,132 
       Staff  716,467 206,182 621,671 189,300 
      
  2,425,004 492,113 2,500,796 470,526 

 
 
 
26. Fair value of financial assets and liabilities 
 
      All financial assets and liabilities are carried at fair value. 
 
27.  Commitment, contingencies and post balance sheet events 

       
There are none to report. 
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CREDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021

Introduction
In accordance with the Co-operative Societies Act No. 
2 of 2011, the Credit Committee of the Grand Bay Co-
operative Credit Union Ltd is pleased to present to the 
general membership, its report for the year ended 
December 31, 2021.

The five-member committee comprising of only women 
prior to the last AGM, gained a gentleman when Mr. 
Osmund Lavinier was elected to the Committee. The 
Committee served with determination and enthusiasm 
when they met at least twice monthly or as the 
need arose in an effort to meet the mandate of the 
membership.

The composition of the Committee as at December 31, 
2021 read as follows:

o Mrs. Harolda Henry-Riley  Chairperson
o Mrs. Shirmanda Anselm-Honore Secretary
o Ms. Jessica Pacquette  Member
o Ms. Vinetta Benoit  Member
o Mr. Osmund Lavinier  Member

A total of eighteen (18) regular meetings were held in 
2021, compared to seventeen (17) the previous year 
2020. The curfews and lockdowns were minimal in 
2021 so the committee was able to meet regularly. 
At our regular meetings, we had the pleasurable task 
of reviewing loan applications, but when and where 
necessary whether as members of the joint Committee 
or other committees we also deliberated on other 
areas of the Society’s operations aimed at improving 
personnel and services offered by the Society as a whole. 

The table below highlights meetings attended by the 
Committee members.

Names Loan Review 
Meetings Called 

Loan Review 
Meetings Attended 

Absent/ 
Excused 

Harolda Henry-Riley 18 18 - 
Shirmanda Anselm-Honore 18 17 1 
Jessica Pacquette 18 12 6 
Jovan Francis-Lewis 17 14 3 
Vinetta Benoit 18 16 1 
Osmund Lavinier 1 1 - 
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Overview
As the pandemic continued, at times with great 
uncertainty, especially in the middle of 2021, our 
responsibility was often arduous, but the committee still 
made every effort to approve loans based on the policy 
of the Society, bearing in mind members needs and of 
course the times that we are living in, so as not to cause 
increased delinquency. Notwithstanding, loans granted 
in 2021 increased by $5,576,338 or 73.36% compared 
to the increase of $1,986,647 or 35.4% 2020. The loans 
portfolio grew by $2,857,477 or 11.69%.

Lending Activities and Analysis
A total of 921 loans valued at $13,177,351 were granted 
in 2021.  When compared to 2020 in which 984 loans 
were granted at a value of $7,601,013, an increased 
value of $5,576,338 was observed.  Though the value 
of loans granted in 2021 increased significantly, there 

was a decrease of sixty-four (64) in the number of loans 
granted. Amidst competition and strategies to stay alive 
by other financial institutions, our Society implemented 
the following strategies which we believe attributed to 
the increase in value of the loans granted.

o There was a reduction in the mortgage interest 
rate from 7% to 6.5%.

o The introduction of the mortgage bundle at an 
interest rate of 6%.

o The increase of the open-ended loan limit from a 
maximum of $20,000 to $30,000.

Members took advantage of these opportunities 
resulting in the large increase in loans granted.

Vehicle purchase/maintenance loans and personal 
expense loans continue to dominate the type of loans 
requested by members. (See tables 2 and 3 below for 
a clearer picture) 

Category
No. Value $ % No. Value $ %

Agriculture 8 72,740         0.55 7 21,985       0.29
Vehicle Purchase/Maintenance 103 1,750,102    13.28 114 1,319,617  17.36
Fishing 6 58,975         0.45 7 42,130       0.55
Home Improvement 64 884,568       6.71 90 837,083     11.01
Home Construction 33 7,278,153    55.23 18 2,049,696  26.97
Education 30 391,439       2.97 17 127,425     1.68
Land Purchase 13 592,170       4.49 14 773,232     10.17
Professional/ Distributed Trade 34 296,699       2.25 41 331,727     4.36
Purchase of  Durable Goods 79 430,639       3.27 92 497,029     6.54

Other (Provident/ Personal Loans) 551 1,421,866    10.79 584 1,601,089  21.06
Total 921 13,177,351  100.00 984 7,601,013  100

2021 2020

Loan Category
2021                  
(EC$)

2020                  
(EC$)

Increase/ (Decrease)             
(EC$) %

Personal & Education 5,270,430              4,484,441               785,989                          17.53
Housing 15,568,648            13,450,875             2,117,773                       15.74
Vehicles 3,462,089              3,582,820               (120,731)                        -3.37
Small Business 700,955                 706,118                  (5,163)                            -0.73
Land 2,094,765              2,101,313               (6,548)                            -0.31
Debt Consolidation 17,015                   19,764                    (2,749)                            -13.91
Fishing/Agriculture 184,010                 95,104                    88,906                            93.48
TOTAL 27,297,912            24,440,435             2,857,477                       11.69

Table 2 – Loans by Purpose

Table 3 – Loans Portfolio by Sector 
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Other Activities
Principle Five of the Cooperative Principles affords 
volunteers the opportunity to develop themselves 
and improve the quality of service they render to the 
Society. Committee members attended the annual AML/
CFT training organized by the Dominica Co-operative 
Societies League, however, due to the pandemic, limited 
trainings were done during the year under review. 

Delinquency
As expected, delinquency increased in 2021.  Some 
members were genuinely affected by the pandemic and 
could not make regular payments on their loans while 
others were using the pandemic as an excuse not to pay 
their loans. The delinquency rate as of December 31, 
2021 was 7.37% as compared to 6.91% the previous year.  
This is surely a worrying sign and is of great concern to 
the committee because if the pandemic continues at 
the same pace in the new year, the delinquency rate 
will increase even further.

As a cooperative, the Credit Union is concerned about 
the wellbeing of its members. We are aware that the 
financial situation of some members changed as a result 
of the pandemic while some remained the same. Those 
who encountered problems were encouraged to write to 
explain their situation. Members are again reminded that 
monies loaned needs to be repaid because these funds 
come from the investments made by other members.  
When members lend and do not repay, they are putting 
other people at a disadvantage and the Credit Union in 
a bad light.  Members have a responsibility to repay so 
that there will be continuity.  Remember that the Credit 
Union is ours because as members we are both lenders 
and borrowers.

Recommendations
The Committee can’t help but reiterate the need for 
members to keep abreast with global trends, inform and 
educate themselves and take advantage of the services 
offered by the Society.  Let’s encourage each other 
to value this home grown institution for its viability, 
sustainability and longevity.

Conclusion
Until the delinquency rate reaches 0%, we will continue 
to emphasize the importance of responsible attitude 
demonstrated through honesty and trust.  We are, 
however satisfied that most loan applications met the 
criteria for approval.  

On behalf of the general membership of the Society, I 
express heartfelt thanks to the dedicated and competent 
members of the Supervisory Committee, including Jovan 
Francis whose term of office ended towards the end 
of 2021.  To the Management; that is; the Board of 
Directors and the General Manager; Staff and members 
of the Supervisory and Compliance Committee, you have 
proven that one hand can’t clap and without your input 
ours would have been a most difficult and miserable 
task.

“Grand Bay Credit Union is ours; if we do 
not develop and safeguard it, we will lose it”

……………………………………..
Harolda Henry-Riley
CHAIRPERSON
For and on behalf of the Credit Committee 
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SUPERVISORY & COMPLIANCE 
COMMITTEE REPORT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021

Introduction
The Supervisory and Compliance Committee is pleased 
to report on its activities for the year ended December 
31, 2021 to the 37th Annual General Meeting of the 
Grand Bay Cooperative Credit Union Ltd.  The committee 
oversees the work of the Board of Directors, the 
Compliance Officer, the Credit Committee, and the 
general governance of the Credit Union.

Pursuant to Section 66 of the Co-operative Societies Act 
No 2 of 2011, regulations, by-laws, and policies of the 
Grand Bay Co-operative Credit Union, the Supervisory 
and Compliance Committee is pleased to report that 
the activities carried out by the Grand Bay Co-operative 
Credit Union Ltd during the year 2021 was managed in 
compliance with the above-mentioned laws.  

The advent of the pandemic coupled with the busy 
schedules of the committee members, hampered 
the number of meetings held during the year. 
Notwithstanding, the committee carried out various 
inspections throughout the year.

Composition of the Committee
Volunteers serving on the committee as at December 
31, 2021 were as follows:

Mr. Doctrove Peter  Chairman
Ms. Patricia Noel  Deputy Chairperson
Mrs. Nazarine Williams-Titre Secretary
Mr. Aaron Gregoire  Assistant Secretary

The year under review proved to be very challenging 
for the Supervisory and Compliance Committee mainly 
due to the pandemic. Several meetings were scheduled 
and could not take place because of a lack of quorum. 
Nonetheless, the committee had five (5) regular 
meetings during the year to examine the operations 
of the institution and attended several virtual joint 
committee meetings to discuss the operations of the 
Credit Union.

Committee Members Meetings Called Meetings Attended Meetings Exc/Abs 
Mr. Doctrove Peter 5 5 0 
Ms. Patricia Noel 5 5 0 
Mrs. Nazarine Williams – Titre 5 3 2 
Mr. Armour Thomas 5 4 1 
Mr. Aaron Gregoire 5 4 1 

Table 1 summarizes the record of attendance of committee members at the meetings held during the year.
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The scope of work undertaken by the committee during 
the year included but was not limited to the following:

• Examination of receipts and payment vouchers
• Examination of loan reports and loan files
• Examination of delinquent loan reports/files
• Examination of staff attendance record log
• Examination of Board of Directors minutes book
• Examination of Credit Committee minutes book
• Review of reports of Credit Committee
• Review of loan applications
• Review of monthly financial statements
• Review of Credit Control Officer’s reports
• Review of Compliance Officer’s reports
• Review of Manager’s Reports
• Review of volunteer’s loan files
• Review of staff personal files as well as staff loan 

files
• Conducted cash counts including end of year cash 

count

The committee was satisfied with the outcome of 
the examinations and reviews conducted and made 
recommendations to the Board of Directors on ways to 
enhance the operations at the Society where necessary.

Cash Counts 
During the year under review, a limited number of cash 
counts were conducted.  We are pleased to report 
that there were no inconsistencies with cash held at 
the Society.  Also, as stipulated by the Co-operative 
Societies Act No 2 of 2011, the end of year cash count 
was conducted jointly with the external auditor and the 
Treasurer.  No irregularities were discovered during the 
cash counts.

Training and other activities
The committee members attended the annual AML/
CFT training organized by the Cooperative Societies 
League and participated in the Credit Union’s annual 
strategic planning session. We also attended the joint 
committee meetings held to discuss matters pertinent 
to the development of the Credit Union.

Outlook
There are many things we can learn from this pandemic 
currently affecting the world. One of which is to ensure 
that our members have access to key services in times of 
crisis. The Credit Union has taken the bold step to move 
into the online service arena and offer online services 
to members. The committee applauds the efforts of 
the Board and urge members to take advantage of this 
facility as soon as it is made available to you. In order 
to develop the Credit Union, we must improve the 
delivery of service and embrace the use of technology. 
This new venture brings with it added responsibilities for 
the committee in ensuring compliance to the necessary 
policies and laws. We however welcome this move as it 
is necessary in the times we are now living.

Conclusion
The role of the Supervisory and Compliance Committee 
is fundamental to the successful operation of the Society, 
and as such, it requires individuals who are dedicated.  I 
take this opportunity to thank the committee members 
for their dedication and service. We look forward to 
serving you the members for yet another year, as we 
strive to excel in the execution of our duties.  Thank you 
for your support and the opportunity to serve.  

Additionally, the committee thanks the Board of 
Directors, Credit Committee, members of staff and sub 
committees of the Grand Bay Co-operative Credit Union 
for their support and commitment during the year.  We 
encourage you to remain committed to the Society.

Let us all collaborate with the view of building a stronger 
and more competitive Credit Union.

……………………...........
Doctrove Peter (Mr.)
CHAIRMAN
For and on behalf of the Supervisory & Compliance 
Committee.

  


